IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HERBERT LANDER SPIVEY, JR.,

Appellant,



v.

CASE NO. 67,010

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HERBERT LANDER SPIVEY, JR., :

Appellant, :

v. : CASE NO. 67,010

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Herbert Lander Spivey, Jr. is the appellant in this capital case. The record on appeal consists of 23 volumes, and reference to the pleadings and other matters will be indicated by the letter "R." References to the transcript will be indicated by the letter "T."

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Duval County on February 9, 1984, charged Herbert Spivey and Geraldine Crofton with the first degree murder of her husband, Ronald Crofton (R-21). By way of an information, the state charged Spivey, Crofton, John Green, and Vance Ellison with conspiracy to commit murder in the first degree (R-147). Spivey was also charged with one count of robbery (R-147). Subsequently, the court granted a state motion to consolidate the conspiracy and robbery charges with the murder charge (R-147,164).

Spivey filed several pretrial motions, but only his motion for severance of defendants (R-150) has relevance for this appeal. The court denied that motion (R-163).

Spivey and Crofton proceeded to trial on February 1 5-17, 1985, before the Honorable James Harrison. After hearing the evidence, arguments and law, the jury found Spivey guilty of first degree murder, conspiracy, and robbery (T-241-243). The jury also found that Spivey did not carry a firearm during the robbery (R-243). The same jury acquitted Crofton of the murder (T-3646) but convicted her of the conspiracy to commit first degree murder (T-3647).

Vance Ellison and another defendant, Gregory Hawkins, pled guilty to second degree murder in exchange for their testimony (T-1434,2010). Michael Ouchida, yet another defendant, was granted complete immunity for his testimony (T-1600).

Spivey proceeded to the sentencing phase of the trial, at which time he presented mitigating evidence. After hearing the evidence, arguments, and the law, the jury recommended Spivey live (R-271).

The court rejected that finding and sentenced Spivey to death (R-276). It also sentenced Spivey to 30 years in prison for the conspiracy conviction (R-294) and 60 years in prison for the armed robbery conviction (R-295). All sentences were to run consecutively.

In sentencing Spivey to death, the court found in aggravation that:

- 1. Spivey had been previously convicted of any capital offense or of a felony involving the use of threat or violence to some person (R-282).
- 2. Spivey committed the murder for financial gain (R-283).

The court found none of the statutory mitigating factors applicable in this case. It did find, however, that there was a mitigating circumstance in the life sentence assured Ellison and Hawkins, the immunity granted Ouchida, and the acquittal of Geraldine Crofton (R-288).

Spivey filed a motion for new trial (R-244) which was denied (R-273).

This appeal follows.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

After 27 years, Ronald and Geraldine Crofton's marriage had finally soured (R-3115,3118). In April 1983 Geraldine filed a petition for divorce because of Ronald's alcoholism (T-1320) and his consequent abuse of her and her children (T-3168). Ronald also was seeing another woman (R-2553). Within a week, however, Geraldine dismissed the complaint as the couple seemed to be reconciling (T-3070).

The apparent reconciliation was short-lived, and within two months both Croftons had filed petitions for divorce (T-3071). Although Geraldine would have received a generous settlement (T-3082,3084,3086,3087), for some reason she was afraid Ronald would somehow liquidate his multimillion dollar construction company and leave her and the children penniless (T-2034). She began making threats on her husband's life to virtually anyone who would listen (T-2526,2547). At least once Geraldine threatened to burn their house with Ronald and Mickey Finch (his girlfriend) in it (T-2553). More often, however, she wanted to find someone who would either beat or kill her husband, and in this search she asked friends (T-2526,2549), relatives (T-2636), and acquaintances (T-2396,2425,2149).

In March 1983, Geraldine met Vance Ellison, the live-in boyfriend of Kathy Millett who was a friend of Geraldine (T-2011). Ellison was a drug dealer trying to

leave the drug business because his drug associates were going to jail (T-2195). By July and August he was out of work and had little money; he and Millett were living off the child support payments Millett received from her ex-husband (T-2197).

Geraldine told Ellison she wanted someone to beat her husband, and at her urging, Ellison began looking for someone who could do the job. He settled on a night club bouncer named David McDonald, and Ellison offered him \$1,000 to beat Ronald (R-2018,2019,2428). McDonald did not want to beat the man, but he went along with Ellison because he was giving him money (T-2389).

Ellison introduced McDonald to Geraldine Crofton, and on two occasions McDonald stayed at Crofton's apartment to act as a body guard because she was afraid that her husband would beat her (T-2382). During the second occasion, Geraldine asked McDonald to break into her husband's office and steal a computer part (T-2392). McDonald balked but drove Geraldine to her husband's office. Once there, Crofton deactivated the burglar alarm (T-2393), took the disc out of the computer, gave it to McDonald, and told him to take anything else he wanted (T-2394-2395).

Afterwards, McDonald drove Geraldine home (T-2397).

Before he left, she asked him to slap her, which he did (T-2397). McDonald then went to a bar and got drunk; meanwhile Geraldine called the police and reported that someone had beaten her and told her to leave town (T-2477).

By now, Geraldine wanted her husband killed, and when she talked with Ellison he told her it would cost her \$20,000 (T-2034). Ellison claimed he did not take Geraldine seriously (T-2032), but he did try to find someone, yet his initial search was unsuccessful (T-2636).

Geraldine apparently thought Ellison was serious, and she kept asking Ellison if he had found anyone to kill her husband (T-2040). Ellison kept looking, and by late August 1983 he had found Herbert Spivey.

Spivey was a small time drug dealer (T-2745) who worked sporadically, had no money and no place to live (T-2745). He and his wife (who was five months pregnant) (T-2745), spent most of whatever money Spivey earned on drugs and both were addicts (T-2745). When Ellison approached him in August 1983, Spivey was living with friends, and he and his wife got about Jacksonville on a bicycle (T-1393,2745). Shortly they would be living in a car and camping in the woods (T-2828).

Ellison talked to Spivey several times (T-2750) and often bought things for Spivey and paid his bills (T-2751, 2757). Eventually he paid \$700 for a 1972 El Torino and gave it to Spivey along with \$250 cash (T-2063-2065).

After the third or fourth meeting, Ellison mentioned that he needed someone killed (T-2751). Spivey thought he was joking (T-2752), but Ellison persisted. Spivey finally agreed to do the killing for \$10,000, but Ellison

said it would be \$20,000 (T-2048). But even then Spivey did not want to do the killing (T-1400), and he told Ellison that he did not want to do it (T-2759). Ellison, however, would not let him back out. He told Spivey that he knew too much (T-2853). Ellison also implied that he had underworld connections (T-2760), and if Spivey did not go along he would be killed (T-2853,2861, 2853).

Spivey also felt obligated to Ellison because he owed him about \$1100 (T-2766-2767). At one point he thought he could borrow the money from someone else so he would not have to commit the murder (T-1403), but that deal apparently fell through (T-2766).

Spivey felt trapped (T-2766). Geraldine Crofton kept asking Ellison if he had found someone to murder her husband (T-2032), and Ellison in turn wanted to know when Spivey was going to kill Ronald (T-2768).

On September 26, 1983, Ronald went to Geraldine's apartment to discuss with her a lost \$2,000 check (T-3202). As soon as she left, she called Ellison, who in turn called Spivey (T-2075-2076). Spivey was told that Crofton had just left his wife's house and had \$2,000 (T-2075). He was also told that the killing was to look like a robbery (T-2068).

Spivey got in his car with his wife and drove to a shopping mall in Jacksonville so that he could shoplift

in order to get something to eat (T-2829). While there, he met Michael Ouchida, an acquaintance of his with a reputation for violence (T-2268). He asked Ouchida if he wanted to rob someone, and Ouchida agreed to go along (T-1609-1610). At that time Spivey made no mention of committing a murder (T-1609,1659,1630).

Later, Spivey ran into Gregory Hawkins and his girl-friend (T-2771). Spivey also asked Hawkins along because he had committed robberies before (T-2771). Spivey again made no mention of the murder, and in fact, Spivey's plan was only to take Crofton's \$2,000 so he could repay Ellison (T-2768,2773).

The five people got in Spivey's car and went looking for Crofton. They found him at a restaurant then followed him home (T-1447-1450). While the two women waited in the car, Spivey, Ouchida, and Hawkins walked to Crofton's front 2 door. Spivey had a gun which he gave to Hawkins (T-2777). They knocked on the door (T-2776), but let themselves in when no one opened it (T-2776). Crofton was upstairs talking on the telephone, and when he came downstairs, Ouchida grabbed him (T-2777) and Hawkins put a gun in his face (T-2777). Spivey or Hawkins then asked where the money was (T-1509,1621). Crofton was supposed to have \$1500 to

At trial, Hawkins said he carried the gun (T-1450) as neither Ouchida nor Spivey wanted to carry it (T-1506). Ouchida, when he testified, said he had the gun or that Spivey had it, and he took it from Spivey (T-1661).

\$2,000 on him (T-1500), but this night, he had only \$63 in his wallet (T-1463). They also took a gold nugget chain and a wristwatch from him (T-1463,1540).

At this point, there is a conflict in the testimony. Ouchida says that he went upstairs and when he returned, he saw Spivey choking Crofton with a pillow case he had taken off of Crofton's bed (T-1624). After a while, Spivey asked for Hawkins' help (T-1625). According to Ouchida, he tried to stop them but could not or did not (T-1625).

Spivey said that he got a pillow case from upstairs so he could tie Crofton up (T-2779). Crofton made a sudden move, he and Spivey fell to the ground (T-2780), then Crofton was knocked unconscious (T-2782). At that point Spivey and Ouchida left (T-1416). Hawkins, however, stayed. According to Spivey, Crofton was alive when he left (T-2782). According to Hawkins, Spivey, and Ouchida, Hawkins stayed in Crofton's house for another 15 minutes during which time he took Crofton's shoes (T-1460,1523). When he left, he took the pillow case and stole Crofton's car (T-2785). He met Spivey minutes later, and Spivey told him to abandon the car (T-1463). Ouchida, however, wanted to sell it (T-1525). Hawkins left the car with the pillow

Ouchida says these items were taken before Crofton's death (T-1450). Hawkins, on the other hand, said they were taken after the death (T-1625).

A Leroy Cox was a cellmate with Hawkins and said that Hawkins told him that when he and his two partners left Crofton, Crofton was still alive (T-2738-2740).

case inside of it alongside of the road (T-1463).

Spivey told Ellison that night that Crofton was 5 dead (T-2078). Ellison in turn notified Geraldine, and over the next several weeks, Geraldine Crofton made repeated telephone calls to the coroner asking him for her husband's death certificate (T-1910). While the coroner thought Crofton's death was suspicious, in light of the advanced stage of his emphysema (R-1944), and the lack of any definite evidence of a homicide (T-1931,1941), he said Crofton died of natural causes (T-1936,1953).

Over the next several months, Ellison paid Spivey \$17,500 (T-2794). Ellison kept \$2,000 for himself (T-2118). Hawkins demanded to share the money (T-2793), and Spivey gave him \$4500 (T-2794). Spivey used \$1,000 of the remaining \$13,000 for living expenses, and he spent the remaining \$12,000 on drugs (T-2794).

The police investigation focused on Ouchida after one of his neighbors called the police and told them Ouchida had said he participated in a murder (T-1788-1790). He gave the police a statement six weeks later after he had received complete immunity from the State Attorney (T-1600). Hawkins was arrested and he likewise gave a

⁵At trial, Ellison said that Spivey had told him that Spivey had put his foot on the back of Crofton's head while he strangled him (T-2097).

statement in return for which he pled guilty to second degree murder (T-1541-1543). Ellison was arrested, and he gave a statement in return for which he pled guilty to second degree murder (T-2010). Crofton was acquitted of the murder but convicted of conspiracy (T-3647).

IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

During cross-examination of Spivey, the co-defendant's attorney asked Spivey why he did not give his exculpatory story when arrested. The trial court permitted this line of questioning in order to balance Spivey's right to remain silent against Crofton's right to confrontation.

The court's error is that such an inquiry was irrelevant as Spivey's silence after his <u>Miranda</u> rights have been read is ambiguous and hence irrelevant. Crofton, therefore, had no right to confront Spivey as to his post <u>Miranda</u> silence on irrelevant matters.

In addition, if Crofton's attorney had an obligation to inquire about Spivey's silence, the court should have severed Spivey's trial from that of Crofton. If the defenses of Spivey and Crofton were not antagonistic then the court should not have permitted Crofton's attorney to inquire about Spivey's silence. In no case should the court have "balanced" the constitutional rights of Spivey against those of Crofton and permitted the inquiry it did.

The court's error was not harmless as Spivey's credibility was directly pitted against the credibility of other state witnesses, and in such matters the jury must resolve who to believe. This Court cannot say beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would not have believed Spivey had Crofton's attorney not inquired about Spivey's silence.

The jury recommended life to Spivey, yet the trial judge imposed death. In doing so, the court ignored its role in sentencing when a jury recommends life; instead it looked for aggravating and mitigating factors to weigh. It should have looked for any basis to impose life, and from the record three reasonable bases for the jury's life recommendation exist. Because of these reasons, the judge should have imposed a life sentence.

V ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING CROFTON'S ATTORNEY TO INQUIRE AT TRIAL INTO SPIVEY'S POST-ARREST, POST-MIRANDA SILENCE, WHICH WAS A VIOLATION OF SPIVEY'S FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMEND-MENT RIGHTS TO REMAIN SILENCE.

During his trial, Spivey took the stand in his own defense and said, in essence, that while he robbed Crofton he had no intent to kill him. In fact, when he and Ouchida left Crofton's house, Crofton was alive (T-2782), and Hawkins, in an independent act, must have 6 killed him.

Geraldine Crofton's attorney, over Spivey's objection, intentionally asked Spivey about his silence at the time he was arrested.

- Q Mr. Spivey when were you arrested?
- A January 9, 1984.
- Q Now who arrested you?
- A I am not sure of the officer's name, sir. There were about five or six or maybe seven of them.
- Q At the time that you were arrested did you make any statement to anybody at that time?

MR. LINK: I object, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right, sir. Over-ruled.

A No, sir, I didn't.

 $^{^{6}}$ The court instructed the jury on independent acts (R-228).

- Q You didn't say anything?
- A No, sir.

MR. LINK: I object and move for a mistrial.

THE COURT: I will overrule the objection.

- Q Did you tell anybody at that time that you had been involved in the killing of Mr. Crofton?
 - A No, sir, I hadn't.
- Q Did you tell anybody at that time that you had been contacted by Mr. Ellison to do a contract murder?
 - A No, sir.
- Q Did you tell anybody at that time that you had ever heard anything about Mickey Finch, or Mickey?
 - A No, sir.
- Q When was the first time -- Did you ask for a lawyer?
 - A Excuse me, sir.
- Q Did you ask for a lawyer at that time?
 - A No, sir.
- Q Did you ever thereafter ask for a lawyer?
 - A Yes, sir.
 - Q When was that?
- A In Court, sir, when I came to a bond hearing.
 - Q How long after?
 - A The next day.
- MR. LINK: Once again I object, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. LINK: May I ask for a continuing objection?

THE COURT: Yes, sir, and that will be overruled.

- Q When was the first time that you ever told anybody the story that you told here today with regard to the contract and Mickey, and those things?
 - A The first day I seen my lawyer.
 - Q When was that, sir?
- A Approximately four days after my arrest.
 - Q Did you tell anybody else?
 - A No, sir.
- Q Did you ever tell a law enforcement officer any such thing?
 - A Referring to a murder, sir?
 - Q Yes, sir.
 - A No, sir, I didn't.
- Q Well, and also about this alleged contract?
 - A No, sir.
- MR. LACY MAHON: Excuse me just a moment judge?
- Q Did you ever talk to anybody about the matter of how this murder had occurred?
- A No, sir, because I didn't kill anybody. (T-2815-2817).

The court permitted this inquiry of Spivey by his co-defendant Crofton in order to:

...balance the Sixth Amendment right of Crofton against the Fifth Amendment right of Spivey to remain silent.

(T-2803).

The court erred in that it conducted a balancing of rights when none should have been done. Both defendants have constitutional rights that should have been protected, and Spivey's right to remain silent should not have been in any way limited to accommodate Crofton's right to confrontation.

Initially, the questions Crofton's attorney asked clearly implicated Spivey's right to remain silent. When arrested, Spivey was informed of his "Miranda" rights (T-289), and consequently any inquiry into his subsequent silence was a violation of his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent. Doyle v. Ohio, 426 U.S. 610, 49 L.Ed.2d 91, 96 S.Ct. 2240 (1976).

In <u>Doyle</u>, Doyle and his co-defendant claimed at trial that one Bonnell, a government agent, had framed them by making it look like they were selling drugs. During cross-examination, the prosecutor elicited the fact that Doyle had not told the police of the frame up story when arrested. <u>Id</u>. at 613-614. The United States Supreme Court, in rejecting this inquiry into Doyle's silence, held:

...that the use for impeachment purposes of petitioner's silence, at the time of

⁷Spivey moved to sever the trial (R-150,255).

arrest and after receiving <u>Miranda</u> warnings, violated the Due Process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

Id. at 619.

The basis for this ruling lies in the implicit assumption that the Miranda warnings assure a suspect that his silence will not be used against him at the trial. Id. at 618. It is fundamentally unfair to tell a person he has a right to remain silent and then insist that his trial testimony is fabricated because he did not tell his story when he had an opportunity to do so. Silence at the time of arrest may be an admission of guilt, or it may be the act of someone taking advantage of his Fifth Amendment rights. In any event, silence after Miranda rights have been read is ambiguous and has no probative value on the issue of guilt or innocence.

8 United States v. McClure, 734 F.2d 484 (CA 10 1984).

The situation here is unlike those in Anderson v. Charles, 447 U.S. 404, 65 L.Ed. 222, 100 S.Ct. 2180 (1980) and Fletcher v. Weir, 455 U.S. 603, 71 L.Ed.2d 490, 102 S.Ct. 1309 (1982). In Anderson, the Supreme Court held that the Doyle proscription does not apply when the defendant makes a statement after his Miranda rights have been read. Anderson at 408. In Fletcher, the court held that Doyle was inapplicable where the defendant remained silent even though his Miranda rights had not been read. Fletcher at 605-607.

In this case, Spivey was read his rights (T-289), and he apparently made no statement after those rights had been read. Thus, neither Fletcher v. Weir or Anderson v. Charles control this case. Rather the questions asked Spivey by Crofton's attorney are very similar to those asked by the prosecutor in Doyle.

In this case, had the court permitted the prosecutor to ask the questions Crofton's attorney asked it surely would have committed reversible error. The entire thrust of Crofton's attorney's inquiry was to impeach Spivey's testimony by showing that his trial testimony was a recent fabrication. It did this by presenting to the jury the fact that Spivey had said nothing to the police when arrested (T-2798). But under <u>Doyle</u>, this line of questioning clearly was impermissible as it sought to impeach Spivey by means of his post-Miranda silence.

At the hearing on Spivey's motion for new trial, the court tried to side step this problem by saying that Crofton's inquiry was not "fairly susceptible" to being interpreted as a comment on Spivey's right to remain silent (T-3786).

In <u>State v. Sheperd</u>, Case No. 64,369 (Fla. opinion filed November 25, 1985), this Court said:

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