IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



- MAN 1977 1986

URT 67,010

APPELLANT,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

HERBERT LANDER SPIVEY, JR,

APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

CASE NO.

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

PATRICIA CONNERS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

<u>DeLuna v. United States</u> is completely irrelevant to the issue at hand for a myriad of reasons. First, the case is not a comment-on-silence case; it is a case involving a co-defendant's failure to testify. The specific issue in DeLuna was:

> When one of two defendants jointly tried in a criminal proceeding in a federal court exercises his right not to testify, does the Fifth Amendment protect him from prejudicial comments on his silence made to the jury by an attorney for the co-defendant?

<u>Sub judice</u>, unlike in <u>DeLuna</u>, the appellant took the stand and testified. Moreover, in <u>DeLuna</u>, the Fifth Circuit reversed the defendant's conviction rejecting the government's argument that it was free from blame, and held that:

> In a criminal trial in a federal court an accused has a constitutionally guaranteed right of silence free from prejudicial comments, even when they come only from a codefendant's attorney. If an attorney's duty

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The court relied on this dictum from <u>DeLuna</u> to conclude that Mrs. Crofton had the right of cross-examination, but because in <u>DeLuna</u>, the Fifth Circuit reversed for new, separate trials, the court then distinguished <u>DeLuna</u> on its facts, stating that in <u>DeLuna</u>, the defendant had not testified but that in the instant case appellant had testified and, in so doing, had incriminated himself. (T 2807).

to his client should require him to draw the jury's attention to the possible inference of guilt from a co-defendant's silence, the trial judge's duty is to order that the defendants be tried separately.

Id. at 141. This reasoning is not so readily applicable to the facts of the instant case because: First, this was a state court proceeding requiring an application of both the fifth and fourteenth amendments, and, because the prosecution did not elicit the error sub judice, there was no state action and thus there is some question as to whether a due process violation under the fourteenth amendment occurred; second, as noted above, Mrs. Crofton's attorney did not have a duty to "draw the jury's attention to the possible inference of quilt from a co-defendant's silence" because there could be no inference of guilt. This latter point gives rise to the most important reason why DeLuna is inapposite here: the DeLuna decision predates Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966) by four years. Therefore, in 1962, the year DeLuna was decided, if a defendant remained silent at the time of his arrest, such silence certainly was probative of his guilt because he had not been informed by police under Miranda that he had the right to remain silent. Today, however, as Doyle suggest, a defendant's post-arrest silence is not probative of anything because once Miranda warnings are given, a defendant's silence could as easily be the result of inducement based upon receipt of such warnings as they could be probative of the defendant's guilt. Thus, of necessity, Miranda has rendered the dictum in DeLuna completely irrelevant to the issue at hand.

Despite <u>DeLuna's</u> clear irrelevance with regard to the facts of this case, appellant's trial counsel at no time argued that <u>DeLuna</u> was inapposite, and at no time until the present appeal did appellant's trial counsel suggest that Mrs. Crofton had no right to cross-examine his client on his post-arrest silence following <u>Miranda</u> warnings. Instead, trial counsel essentially <u>agreed</u> with the trial court that the dictum in <u>DeLuna</u> was applicable and made little effort other than general objections and a single citation to the clearly distinguishable case of <u>Sublette v. State</u> (which appellant's appellate counsel now admits was properly rejected by the trial court below (Initial Brief at 21)), to dissuade the trial court from committing the error he now so vigorously raises.

Given these circumstances, it is the State's position that the appellant should be estopped from raising the instant issue on appeal. Although defense counsel had ample opportunity in which to correct the trial court's misperception as to the relevant case law, the record shows that other than interposing the perfunctory objections necessary to preserve the issue for appeal, defense counsel did little to avoid the establishment of clear error on the face of the appellate record. Indeed, the facts of the instant case offered a golden opportunity for a strategically minded defense counsel to ensure that error was built into the record, and sub judice, appellant's trial court clearly took advantage of that opportunity. As a result, inasmuch as appellant acquiesced in the reliance by the trial court upon a clearly inapposite case and did not make the

- 26 -

argument based on <u>Doyle v. Ohio</u>, that he now makes on appeal, i.e., that Mrs. Crofton did not have a sixth amendment right to cross-examine the appellant as to his post-<u>Miranda</u>, post-arrest silence, the appellant should be estopped from claiming reversible error on appeal.

In this vein, the effect of trial counsel's actions <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u>, is not unlike what occurred in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 359 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1978). There, Jackson challenged the comments made by the Bay County Sheriff who was involved in appellant's arrest to the effect that when the sheriff warned Jackson, following the giving of his <u>Miranda</u> warnings, that he was going to ask questions regarding the two women who were murdered, Jackson stated, "I want a lawyer." <u>Id.</u> at 1193. Specifically, Jackson contended on appeal that the sheriff's statement constituted an impermissible comment upon Jackson's exercise of his rights under the fifth and sixth amendments pursuant to the then <u>per se</u> reversal rule of <u>Bennett v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. This Court rejected Jackson's argument, stating:

> Appellant correctly states our holding in Bennett v. State, 316 So.2d 41 (Fla. 1975), that any comment upon a defendant's standing mute or silent or refusing to testify in the face of an accusation is fundamental error requiring reversal for a new trial. But this is not a Bennett situation. In Bennett the prosecutor elicited testimony from his own witness to the effect that after being of his cons refused advised constitutional rights, defendant to sign the waiver . . .. " This statement suggests that defendant had a duty to respond and was held to be an impermissible comment on defendant's exercise of his Fifth Amendment rights. In the present case, the appellant's statement, "I want a lawyer" was brought out on cross

examination by counsel for the defense. But for the insistence of appellant himself, the fact would not have come before the jury. Appellant cannot initiate error and then seek reversal based on that error. <u>Gagnon v.</u> <u>State</u>, 212 So.2d 337 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968); <u>Borst v. Gale</u>, 99 Fla. 376, 126 So. 290 (1930).

Id. at 1193-1194. (Emphasis supplied). Likewise, in the instant case, it was not the prosecutor but the co-defendant's attorney who elicited the subject testimony, and appellant did little to ensure that such testimony was not brought before the jury. NO specific argument was ever made by appellant's trial counsel as to the viability of DeLuna and whether there was even a duty on the part of the co-defendant's counsel to cross-examine his client on his post-arrest silence after Miranda warnings. Rather, appellant's trial counsel allowed the cross-examination and, as a result, he should not now be allowed to raise a matter as error on appeal which, upon proper objection and argument to the trial court, he could have avoided. Regardless, because the prosecutor was not involved in the questioning, Jackson makes plain that even if the per se rule of Bennett was still viable, it would not mandate reversal under the facts of this case. Cf. Lucas v. State, 376 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979), where this Court, reviewing the alleged failure by a trial court to conduct a Richardson inquiry, noted that while defense counsel brought the State's non-compliance with discovery rules to the attention of the court, he did not object, but, rather, deferred in the trial court's erroneous statement of the applicable law; consequently, this Court ruled that it would "not indulge in the presumption that the trial judge would have made an erroneous ruling had an

- 28 -

objection been made <u>and</u> authority cited contrary to his understanding of the law." <u>Id</u>. at 1152. (Emphasis supplied).

Assuming this Court chooses to address the instant issue despite appellant's clear acquiescence in the court's erroneous ruling, however, it is the State's alternative argument that because the prosecution was not responsible for the error, there clearly was no state action and, therefore, appellant's due process rights under the fourteenth amendment could not have been violated.

Appellant contends in his brief that the fact that it was the co-defendant's counsel who elicited the subject testimony and not the prosecutor should make no difference. (Initial Brief at 20). However, appellant's entire argument is based almost solely upon the rationale of <u>Doyle v. Ohio</u>, <u>supra</u>, which dealt only with impeachment by a <u>prosecutor</u> of a defendant regarding his exculpatory story.

In <u>Doyle v. Ohio</u>, the issue was "whether a state prosecutor may seek to impeach a defendant's exculpatory story, told for the first time at trial, by cross-examining the defendant about his failure to have told the story after receiving <u>Miranda</u> warnings at the time of his arrest." 426 U.S. at 611. Both Doyle and his co-defendant in separate trials claimed that a government agent framed them on charges of selling ten pounds of marijuana. At each defendant's trial, the prosecutor, during cross-examination of the defendant, asked him why he had not told the frameup story at the time of his arrest. <u>Id</u>. at 613-14. The United States Supreme Court, ruled that such an inquiry was reversible error, holding that "the use for impeachment purposes of petitioner's silence, at the time of the arrest and after receiving Miranda warnings, violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment." Id. at 619. In so holding, the Supreme Court quoted Mr. Justice White's concurrence in <u>United States v. Vitale</u>, 422 U.S. 171, 182-183, 45 L.Ed.2d 99, 95 S.Ct. 2133 (1975), in which the justice stated:

"[W]hen a person under arrest is informed, as Miranda requires, that he may remain silent, that anything he says may be used against him, and that he may have an attorney if he wishes, it seems to me that it does not comport with due process to permit the prosecution during the trial to call attention to his silence at the time of arrest and to insist that because he did not speak about the facts of the case at the time, as he was told he need not do, an unfavorable inference might be drawn as to the truth of his trial testimony. . .

(Emphasis supplied.)

This rationale was adopted with equal vigor by this Court in <u>State v. Burwick</u>,<sup>4</sup> 442 So.2d 944 (Fla. 1983):

> The reason for the rule holding inadmissible at trial evidence of the post-arrest silence and request for counsel for a defendant who has been advised of his <u>Miranda</u> rights is that the evidence creates the inference that the defendant is guilty of committing the criminal act. There is no dispute that it is reversible error for the prosecution to attempt to impeach a defendant's alibi testimony by asking on cross-examination why

To the extent that the <u>Burwick</u> court relied upon Bennett v. State, 316 So.2d 41 (Fla. 1975), it has been modified somewhat by State v. DiGuilio, 10 F.L.W. 430 (Fla. August 29, 1985), wherein this Court repudiated the per se reversal rule of <u>Bennett</u> and adopted the harmless error doctrine expounded by the United States Supreme Court in Chapman v. United States, 386 U.S. 18 (1967) and Hastings v. United States, 461 U.S. 499 (1983).

he remained silent at the time of his arrest. <u>Doyle v. Ohio</u>, 426 U.S. 610, 96 S.Ct. 2240, 49 L.Ed.2d 91 (1976); <u>United</u> <u>States v. Hale</u>, 422 U.S. 171, 95 S.Ct. 2133, 45 L.Ed.2d 99 (1975).

\*

\* \* \*

It is fundamentally unfair for the state to lure Burwick into remaining silent then impeach the man with this same very silence. To permit the state to benefit from the fruits of its own deceptions violates the clause due process of the fourteenth amendment and article I, section 9, of the Florida Constitution. <u>See Doyle v. Ohio; see</u> also <u>United States v. Hale</u>, 422 U.S. 171, 182, 95 S.Ct. 2133, 2139, 45 L.Ed.2d 99 (White, J., concurring).

Id. at 947-948.

Although neither Burwick nor Doyle address the issue of whether it is a violation of due process under the fourteenth amendment for a co-defendant's attorney and not the prosecutor to impeach a witness on cross-examination regarding his post-arrest silence following Miranda warnings, both cases nevertheless suggest that due process rights are violated only when the prosecution lures the defendant to remain silent and then at trial uses that silence against them. If a due process violation requires state action and state action must come from the prosecution, it is difficult to construe a co-defendant's independent impeachment of a defendant on cross-examination as rising to the level of state action, and without state action, there can be no due process violation. As a result, contrary to appellant's assertion it does make a difference as to whether a comment on silence is made by a co-defendant's counsel or by the prosecution.

Regardless, even if it could be construed that the codefendant's cross-examination of appellant <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u> was a violation of appellant's due process rights, it is the State's final contention that the error was clearly harmless.

Last year, in <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 10 F.L.W. 430 (Fla. August 29, 1985), this court repudiated its long-standing position set out in such cases as <u>Donovan v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1982), <u>Shannon v. State</u>, 335 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1976), and <u>Bennett v. State</u>, 316 So.2d 41 (Fla. 1975), that a comment on an accused's silence required <u>per se</u> reversal. Instead this Court adopted the harmless error analysis of <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18 (1967) and <u>United States v. Hasting</u>, 461 U.S. 499 (1983). In so doing, the DiGuilio court stated:

> The harmless error rule promotes the administration of justice. In <u>Chapman</u> the Supreme Court, after noting that the law of all fifty states and federal law maintain a harmless error statute, stated:

> > All of these rules, state or federal, serve a very useful purpose insofar as they block setting aside convictions for small errors or defects that have little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial.

386 U.S. at 22. See also Hastings, 461 U.S. at 508. It makes no sense to burden our legal system with a new trial when the result will be the same. As the Supreme Court noted in Hastings, there can be no such thing as an error-free, perfect trial, and the constitution does not guarantee such a trial. 461 U.S. at 508-09. To insure that as fair a trial as possible is given, we adopt the harmless error test used in Chapman and Hastings. Therefore, an appellate court must inquire on review: Absent the comment on silence, is it clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have returned a verdict of guilty?

Id. 10 F.L.W. 431 Pursuant to this test, there is no question that the jury would have returned a verdict of guilty <u>sub judice</u> even absent the comment on silence. First, appellant by his own direct testimony implicated himself in the crimes with which he was charged. Appellant admitted that he was at the scene of the murder, admitted to taking part in the robbery, and admitted that Mr. Crofton was rendered unconscious by his actions. At the very least, appellant, by his own testimony, admitted to aiding and abetting a co-defendant in the commission of a murder and at the most his testimony suggested that he was guilty of felony murder. His testimony was by no means exculpatory.

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